IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 12 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

DIETRA R. H. MICKS,

Respondent.

Case Nos. 80,236 and 80,714

TFB File Nos. 87-21613-04C and 90-00370-04C

INITIAL BRIEF

ALISA M. SMITH Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney Number 0794805

####

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the Referee Report will be designated as (RR-).

The Appellant in these proceedings, Deitra R. H. Micks, will be referred to as Respondent in this Brief.

The Appellee will be referred to as TFB.

References to the transcript of the trial hearing will be designated as (T-).

References to exhibits submitted at the final hearing or in supplemental motion will be designated as (Ex. ).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. SUPREME COURT CASE NUMBER: 80,236

On April 9, 1992, Respondent tendered a Waiver Of Hearing and Finding by the Fourth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" as to probable cause for violation of disciplinary rules 1-102 (A) (4), 2-106 (A), 5-104 (A), 7-101 (A)(1), 7-101 (A)(3) and 9-102(B)(3) of the Professional Code of Responsibility of The Florida Bar.

On July 30, 1992, The Florida Bar filed a Complaint against Dietra H. Micks coupled with a Request for Admissions in this case. On August 19, 1992, the Chief Justice appointed the Honorable Arthur W. Nichols III, Circuit Judge, Seventh Judicial Circuit, as referee in this matter.

On December 22, 1992, The Florida Bar submitted a Motion to Deem Matters Admitted and Motion for Summary Judgment, pursuant to Rules 1.370(a) and 1.510 of Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, in that, Respondent failed to answer The Florida Bar's Request for Admission within the 45 day time period set forth in the rules.

The final hearing was scheduled and held on March 12, 1993, at the Putnam County Courthouse. On March 9, 1993, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss alleging laches.

On April 7, 1993, the Referee ordered that The Florida Bar's Motion to Deem Matters Admitted and Motion for Summary

-2-

Judgment be granted. The Report of Referee was filed on April 7, 1993.

The Report of Referee recommends that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of 18 months.

On June 11, 1993, The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review seeking the review of the recommended discipline of the Report of Referee.

### B. SUPREME COURT CASE NUMBER: 80,714

On July 20, 1992, Respondent tendered a Waiver of Hearing and Finding by the grievance committee as to probable cause for violation of disciplinary rules 1-102(A)(5), 1-102(A)(6), 6-101(A)(2), 7-101(A)(3), 7-102(A)(1) and 7-102(A)(2) of the Code of Professional Responsibility of The Florida Bar; and Rules 5-101(A), 5-105(B), 5-105(C), 5-107(A)(1), 5-107(A)(2), 6-101(A)(1), 6-101(A)(2), 7-101(A)(2), 7-101(A)(3) and 9-102(B)(1) of the Disciplinary Rules of The Florida Bar.

On November 3, 1992, The Florida Bar filed a Complaint against Dietra H. Micks coupled with a Request for Admissions in this case. On November 13, 1992, the Chief Justice appointed the Honorable Arthur W. Nichols III, Circuit Judge, Seventh Judicial Circuit, as referee in this matter.

On December 22, 1992, The Florida Bar submitted a Motion to Deem Matters Admitted and Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to Rules 1.370 (a) and 1.510 of Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, in that, Respondent failed to answer The Florida

-3-

Bar's Request for Admission within the 45 day time period set forth in the rules.

The final hearing was scheduled and held on March 12, 1993 at the Putnam County Courthouse. On March 9, 1993, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss alleging laches.

On April 7, 1993, the Referee ordered that The Florida Bar's Motion to Deem Matters Admitted and Motion for Summary Judgment be granted. The Report of Referee was filed on April 7, 1993.

The Report of Referee recommends that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of 18 months.

On June 11, 1993, The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review seeking the review of the recommended discipline of the Report of Referee.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. SUPREME COURT CASE NUMBER: 80,236

The following facts of this case are set forth in the Report of Referee and are not contested by The Florida Bar.

At all times relevant to the facts of this case, Respondent was a member of The Florida Bar and subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of The Florida Supreme Court.

In or about February 1985, Ms. Lillian V. Bush was contacted by Respondent concerning the foreclosure action against her property located at 5242 Locksley Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida (herein referred to as the Locksley property).

On or about March 1, 1985, Ms. Bush met Respondent in her Jacksonville law office to discuss the foreclosure of the Locksley property and Ms. Bush's financial circumstances.

Ms. Bush informed Respondent that she had very little money, had judgments against the Locksley property, and had defaulted on the two mortgages on the Locksley property.

Respondent held herself out to be a real estate attorney and agreed to represent Ms. Bush in the foreclosure action pending against the Locksley property. Specifically, Respondent informed Ms. Bush that she would assist her by obtaining funds from a private source to satisfy the bank and halt the foreclosure.

-5-

During March 1985, Respondent spoke to Barnett Bank representatives regarding a loan to Ms. Bush for refinancing the Locksley property. The bank indicated that it would not consider refinancing the property to Ms. Bush due to her outstanding mortgages and judgments against this Locksley property.

On or about March 11, 1985, Respondent met with Ms. Bush and told her that she could not obtain the funds needed from a private source, that she would utilize a lending institution to obtain the monies to stop the bank from fore-closing on the Locksley property, and that her attorney's fees would be a flat rate of \$4,000 to represent her on the foreclosure matter. Further, on this date, Respondent prepared a warranty deed to be signed by Mr. Shyon Antonio Bush, Ms. Bush's son, as he held ownership and title to the Locksley property. This warranty deed was signed to convey the Locksley property to Respondent. Respondent advised Ms. Bush that this conveyance would enable Respondent to obtain a loan from a lending institution and that this loan would be used to eradicate the debts of the first and second mortgages as well as the judgments against her property. Ms. Bush was represented by Respondent during this meeting and was never informed that she should consult with other counsel regarding this transaction with Respondent.

Respondent also informed Ms. Bush that she would execute an agreement deed which would reconvey the Locksley property back to Ms. Bush.

-6-

On or about March 22, 1985, Respondent received \$13,000 from her brother and/or other family members. These funds were not recorded in any records, trust or otherwise, kept by Respondent for her business. Respondent used these funds, and not funds received from a bank as Respondent previously stated to Ms. Bush, to reinstate the first mortgage holder; the second mortgage holder; to pay the judgment held by Copytronics; to pay the judgment held by Montgomery Ward; and the 1984 tax judgment. The total amount paid by Respondent for the mortgages and judgments is \$10,911.63.

On April 30, 1985, Respondent induced Ms. Bush to sign a Purchase and Sale Agreement which conveyed the property to Respondent. This Agreement reflects a sale price of \$39,000 which includes Respondent's \$4,000 in attorney's fees as well as a \$10,000 fee for other good and valuable consideration conveyed by Respondent to Ms. Bush. This \$10,000 fee was never transferred in any form to Ms. Bush. Simultaneously, Respondent induced Ms. Bush to sign an Agreement for Deed as well as a promissory note. The Agreement for Deed reflected a sale price of \$39,000 and reconveyance of the property to Ms. Bush. This monetary figure of \$39,000 is inflated and does not reflect the actual price paid for the property. The promissory note dictates that Ms. Bush is indebted to Respondent for the sum of \$29,000 not \$39,000. The details set forth in the note indicate that the interest rate is 15 1/2 percent per annum on the note and that the monthly installment rate of \$415.86 due until the balance is paid. Ms. Bush was not advised by Respondent to seek

-7-

other counsel regarding this business transaction nor was she ever informed that this transaction constituted a conflict of interest with Respondent.

Respondent recorded the Purchase and Sale Agreement in the County Court of Duval County conveying the property to herself but failed to record the Agreement for Deed reconveying the property to Ms. Bush.

Subsequently, on May 8, 1985, Respondent borrowed \$15,000 from Barnett Bank using the Locksley property as collateral to secure the loan. Further, Respondent presented the loan officer at Barnett Bank the Purchase and Sale Agreement which inflates the value of the home to obtain the loan.

Respondent did not disclose to Barnett Bank that the loan would be utilized for a third party's benefit, i.e., Ms. Bush. The \$15,000 provided by the bank was used by Respondent to reimburse the monies previously borrowed from her family and to pay to herself four thousand dollars in attorney fees.

On May 8, 1985, Respondent sought an additional loan from Barnett Bank in the amount of \$56,000. Respondent utilized the following three properties as collateral to secure this personal loan: the Locksley property; property at 5423 Soutel Drive; and 5411 Soutel Drive. Respondent did not seek Ms. Bush's permission to use the Locksley property as collateral for Respondent's personal loan. Barnett Bank provided Respondent with both the \$15,000 and \$56,000 loans. At no time did Respondent advise Ms. Bush that there was a conflict of interest

-8--

in entering into a business transaction with a client; nor did she advise her to seek other counsel during this transaction.

In accord with the provisions set forth in the promissory note and Agreement for Deed, Respondent collected the sum of \$415.86 per month beginning May 1, 1985, from Ms. Bush. This money, collected by Respondent, was utilized by Respondent to repay the \$15,000 loan. The Barnett Bank loan payment was monthly installments of \$252.79. Respondent was also responsible for paying an outstanding loan on the Locksley property in the amount of \$117.25 per month. The total payment made by Respondent on a monthly basis amounted to \$370.40 for the loans. In addition, Respondent collected between \$30 and \$45 per month for consultation fees. The collection of these monthly consultation fees was not reflected in the records pertaining to funds, securities and other properties of a client maintained by Respondent. Although this money was collected, Ms. Bush did not utilize Respondent for any legal work other than the foreclosure action.

Ms. Bush made her \$415.86 per month payment to Respondent from May 1, 1985, to April 2, 1986. In April 1986, Respondent increased Ms. Bush's monthly payments to \$530.86. On April 2, 1986, and upon Ms. Bush's failure to pay this amount, Respondent filed and issued to Ms. Bush a "Final Notice to Quit Premises."

Although, at the time of this notice, there was not a signed lease agreement between Ms. Bush and Respondent, the notice demanded "payment of rent" in the amount of \$1,061.99 or surrender the premises on or before April 8, 1986. The notice,

-9-

prepared by Respondent, refers to Respondent as record owner of the Locksley property and to Ms. Bush as a month to month tenant. This type of landlord/tenant arrangement was not the original agreement between Respondent and Ms. Bush. Ms. Bush believed that Respondent had filed the Agreement for Deed. Respondent never informed her otherwise. Since the Agreement for Deed conveying the Locksley property to Ms. Bush was never filed, Respondent was the recorded title holder.

On or about May 9, 1986, Ms. Bush forwarded certified funds in the amount of \$1,200 to Respondent pursuant to the notice of April 2, 1986. Respondent did not cease and discontinue the eviction of her client, Ms. Bush, but instead indicated that she would "tentatively hold it pending receipt of an additional \$415.86."

Contrary to this representation, Respondent deposited the \$1,200 sent to her on May 9, 1986, and proceeded with the eviction proceedings. On May 28, 1986, Ms. Bush was served with a Final Judgment of Eviction and Writ of Possession.

Respondent failed to completely maintain the appropriate records of funds, securities, and other properties of a client coming into possession of the lawyer. Specifically, Respondent failed to record the \$13,000 amount loaned to her on behalf of Ms. Bush; nor the consultation fees collected on a monthly basis from Ms. Bush from May 1, 1985 through April 2, 1986. Respondent did not maintain records of all the payments made on Ms. Bush's behalf concerning the satisfaction of judgments and mortgages. Further, Respondent did not execute a contract for

-10-

fees during her representation and handling of the above described foreclosure action.

## B. SUPREME COURT CASE NUMBER: 80,714

The following facts of this case are set forth in the Report of Referee and are not contested by The Florida Bar.

At all times relevant to the facts of this case, Respondent was a member of The Florida Bar and subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of The Florida Supreme Court.

In or about November 1983, Ms. Phyllis Brown-Singletary (hereinafter Ms. Brown) contacted Respondent concerning a discrimination allegation. This allegation concerned discrimination against Ms. Brown regarding her application to the Sheriff's Office and the discriminatory use of agility tests as a prerequisite for hiring employees. Respondent informed Ms. Brown that she had a good case against the City of Jacksonville and Dale Carson, Sheriff, for discrimination on the basis of gender.

Respondent was familiar with the requirements of the agility test and further knew that Ms. Brown began taking steroids in April 1983 and again two months before her agility test. Respondent was aware that the week prior to Ms. Brown's final test, on October 14, 1983, the preliminary results of her agility tests demonstrated that Ms. Brown was not meeting the minimum requirements. Respondent was also cognizant of the fact

-11-

that Ms. Brown left the test site after failing the first event on the final day of the physical agility test.

On December 8, 1983, Respondent, on behalf of Ms. Brown, filed a Title VII action with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (hereinafter EEOC) alleging discriminatory practices of the Sheriff's Office. Respondent was familiar with the requisite procedures that prior to filing a civil action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (hereinafter Title 7) she had to receive the "right to sue" from the EEOC. Further, Respondent was aware that according to 42 U.S.C., Section 1983 (hereinafter Section 1983) that an element to be proven is that of discriminatory intent and that there was no evidence of discriminatory intent on the part of the City of Jacksonville nor Dale Carson, Sheriff. On February 3, 1984, Respondent was shown a videotape of Ms. Brown's poor performance on the preliminary agility tests given to Sheriff's Office applicants during the week prior to the final test. Although her performance clearly established that the Section 1983 claim was without merit, Respondent did not advise her client to voluntarily dismiss her claim.

On February 23, 1984, United States District Court Judge Moore ordered Respondent and opposing counsel to submit a status report. On March 2, 1984, Respondent submitted an amended claim to the EEOC. Subsequently, on March 12, 1984, Respondent filed a joint status report in the <u>Section 1983</u> case with opposing counsel advising Judge Moore that discovery would take approximately three to six months. On March 23, 1984, the court

-12-

entered an order requiring discovery to be completed by May 18, 1984, and set a pretrial conference for May 31, 1984 and trial for June 18, 1984.

On April 4, 1984, Respondent filed a further supplement to the EEOC and subsequently, in April, obtained an expert in exercise physiology for the Section 1983 action.

It was not until June 8, 1984, ten days before the scheduled trial date, that Respondent received notice of Ms. Brown's right to institute a civil action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 against the Office of the Sheriff and City of Jacksonville. On June 12, 1984, Respondent filed a motion to amend the complaint, and a motion for continuance of trial and reinstitution of discovery in the <u>Section 1983</u> case.

On June 18, 1984, the scheduled trial date, Respondent announced that she was not ready for trial. Respondent filed a new complaint pursuant to Title 42 U.S.C. Section 2000(e), <u>et</u> <u>seq</u>. alleging the same facts as the pending <u>Section 1983</u> claim. Judge Moore denied Respondent's motion for a continuance of the <u>Section 1983</u> case and reset the commencement of the trial for June 19, 1984. On June 19, 1984, Respondent announced that she was not ready to proceed and upon her failure to proceed, the defendants moved for an involuntary dismissal pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 41(b). Judge Moore granted this motion for involuntary dismissal. On June 27, 1984, the defendants moved for taxation of attorney's fees and costs against Respondent and her client, Ms. Brown. The sum of \$7,680 attorney's fees were \$7,680 and the sum of costs was

-13-

\$530.03. Judge Moore ruled in favor of the defendants on their Motion for Taxation of Attorney's Fees and Costs. Judge Moore specifically found (as referenced in his order) that Respondent's conduct in continuing to litigate the <u>Section 1983</u> action after February 3, 1984, when it became clear Respondent's <u>Section 1983</u> action was without foundation and constituted bad faith. Judge Moore, further, found that this 1983 action was frivolous and prosecuted in bad faith.

Subsequent to this order, Respondent convinced Ms. Brown to file an appeal regarding the dismissal and taxation of costs. After being advised by her client that she did not have the cash funds to sustain the costs of an appeal, Respondent advised Ms. Brown that she could assist her in mortgaging her home. Respondent set up a mortgage for Ms. Brown through a friend of Respondent's in Jacksonville. Ms. Brown mortgaged her home for \$18,000. Ms. Brown paid Respondent \$10,000, from these funds, to file an appeal from the dismissal and taxation of costs.

On August 20, 1985, the District Court's decision was affirmed on appeal by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit.

Respondent did not contribute to the order to pay costs and fees as prescribed by the federal court's order and affirmed on appeal. In fact, on November 26, 1985, Respondent informed Mr. Rohan, an attorney with the <u>Office of General Counsel</u>, that the ordered costs would be paid by Ms. Brown. Ms. Brown had not permitted Respondent to make this representation to Mr. Rohan,

-14-

nor did she agree to hold Respondent harmless from this judgment and to pay the judgment in its entirety.

+

Following the Court of Appeals ruling, Respondent failed to return Ms. Brown's phone calls.

The Florida Bar submits, that in light of the admitted misconduct of Respondent and the aggravating circumstances, the recommendation of the Referee as to discipline is inappropriate. The Florida Bar posits that Respondent's misconduct during her representation of Ms. Lillian Bush is tantamount to the commission of a theft, in that she counseled her client to convey the deed of her home to Respondent and Respondent converted same to herself. Further, Respondent knowingly misrepresented her assets and the value of property used as collateral to obtain a personal loan from Barnett Bank. Finally, Respondent's representation of Ms. Phyllis Brown in a frivolous lawsuit resulted in Respondent receiving in excess of \$10,000 in attorney's fees. The culmination of this misconduct coupled with the attendant aggravating factors justifies an increase in discipline to disbarment.

On the other hand, The Florida Bar simultaneously argues that the two mitigating factors found by the Referee are not supported by the evidence. Therefore the findings are clearly erroneous and should not be considered in reducing the imposition of a sanction for this misconduct. Further the mitigation is insufficient to substantially outweigh the aggravating circumstances to justify any reduction. It is therefore the position of The Florida Bar that this Honorable Court impose the sanction of disbarment.

-16-

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

## THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE IS INAPPROPRIATE BASED UPON THE FACTUAL BASIS OF THE ADMITTED MISCONDUCT

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