FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MIG 6 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief-Deputy Clerk

CASE NOS. 80,236 and 80,714

TFB File Nos. 87-21613-04C and 90-00370-04C

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

DEITRA R. H. MICKS,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 109154 Elizabeth L. White, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 314560 SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A. 215 Washington Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-9661

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The referee in this case, the Honorable Arthur W. Nichols, III, erred in failing to grant respondent's Motion to Dismiss. In her Motion to Dismiss, respondent argued that both complaints in this case should be barred by the Doctrine of Laches. The factual matters in this case occurred no more recently than 1985 and 1986, the Bar did not inform respondent of its investigations until 1990 and did not file complaints until 1992, and the delay prejudiced the respondent's ability to either defend herself on the merits or present matters in mitigation. Accordingly, the referee erred in failing to grant respondent's Motion to Dismiss, and this Court should bar the complaints in this case.

The factual basis for the referee's disciplinary recommendation is not contested by the respondent and must be upheld because it is neither clearly erroneous nor devoid of record support. The referee's findings as to aggravating and mitigating factors resulted in recommended discipline that comports with previous decisions of this Court, particularly in view of the respondent's candor, overwhelming personal problems, inexperience а sole practitioner and as remorse for consequences of her actions giving rise to these proceedings. Accordingly, this Court should uphold the discipline recommended by the referee.

The discipline recommended by the referee appropriately weighs the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and the respondent's lack of repeated prior discipline by the Bar.

Respondent has devoted her professional career to the under represented, has accepted responsibility for her wrongdoing, has voluntarily withdrawn from practice for the past two years and has suffered from overwhelming personal and professional difficulties resulting in part from her devotion to public service. Accordingly, the referee's disciplinary recommendation should be upheld.

The referee's findings in mitigation that respondent's misconduct stemmed at least in part from personal or emotional problems, that respondent made full and free disclosure to the disciplinary board and that the Bar delays unreasonably in instituting disciplinary proceedings are clearly supported in the record. In fact, the record is utterly devoid of any evidence contrary to the first two findings in mitigation. Additionally, the Bar must bear responsibility for the delay in instituting these proceedings, the record clearly supports the referee's finding that the delay was unreasonable and the respondent's conduct since 1986 shows that discipline more severe than that recommended by the referee is not warranted for the protection of either the public or the Bar. Accordingly, this Court should uphold the discipline recommended by the referee in this case.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE REFEREE ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS

Respondent filed Motions to Dismiss on March 9, 1993, which were effectively denied when Judge Nichols granted the Bar's Motion for Summary Judgment on April 7, 1993. (RR.).

In the Motions to Dismiss, respondent argued that both complaints should be barred by laches. Laches is comprised by the following elements:

- i. Conduct on the part of the defendant giving rise to the situation of which the complaint is made.
- ii. The plaintiff, having knowledge or notice of defendant's conduct, and having been afforded the opportunity to bring suit, is guilty of not asserting his rights by suit.
- iii. The defendant lacks knowledge that plaintiff will assert the right on which he bases his suit.
- iv. Injury or prejudice to the defendant in the event relief is accorded to the plaintiff.

Van Meter v. Kelsey, 91 So.2d 327, 330-31 (Fla. 1956). Newman v.
Newman, 573 So.2d 1001, 1003 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Wing v. Wing,
464 So.2d 1342, 1344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Devine v. Dept. of
Professional Regulation, Board of Dentistry, 451 So.2d 994, 996
(Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

The requisite elements of laches are clearly present under the allegations of both complaints, in that:

- i. Respondent handled the Brown matter between 1983 and 1985. (RR. 15-21). The Bush transaction occurred in 1985 and 1986. (RR. 2-14).
- ii. The Bar did not file a complaint in the Brown matter until November 3, 1992. (T. 9). A complaint in the Bush matter was not filed until July 30, 1992. (T. 9).
- iii. Respondent was not informed of a Bar investigation into the Brown or Bush matter until 1990. (T. 25, 34).
- iv. The delay in prosecution severely prejudiced respondent. She testified that she could no longer recall many aspects about the cases, (T. 95), and accordingly her ability to challenge the charges and aggravating circumstances, and to present mitigating factors, was severely impaired.

Disciplinary actions are brought principally to preserve the public's confidence in the Bar and protect the Bar's integrity. The Florida Bar v. Welch, 272 So.2d 139, 141 (Fla. 1972); See DeBock v. State, 512 So.2d 164, 166 (Fla. 1987) ("[B]ar disciplinary proceedings are remedial, and are designed for the protection of the public and the integrity of the Courts."). Any benefit to the public or the Bar by disciplining respondent has been nullified by the long lapse between respondent's conduct and imposition of discipline. See Welch, supra at 141. As this Court stated in The Florida Bar v. Randolph, 238 So.2d 635, 638 (Fla. 1970), "We have repeatedly announced that disciplinary

proceedings should be handled with dispatch." This Court also stated that "inordinate delays are indeed unfair and even unjust to the one accused." Id. In part, such delays "undermine the public confidence in the bar's announced determination to keep its own house in order." Id. Additionally, in The Florida Bar v. Papy, 358 So.2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1978), citing, The Florida Bar v. King, 174 So.2d 398 (Fla. 1965), this Court stated that it was "committed to the proposition that disciplinary proceedings should be handled with dispatch, without any undue delay." Furthermore, in In re Phillips, 510 F.2d 126 (2d Cir. 1975), the Second Circuit declined to proceed with suspension or disbarment charges against the attorney because six years had passed between the conduct giving rise to the complaint and the complaint itself.

Respondent has clearly been prejudiced by an excessive delay that was caused by the Bar. Diligence in prosecution rests solely with the Bar. Randolph, supra, at 639. Accordingly, respondent should not be disciplined for the Bar's dilatory action, which has already caused prejudice. Judge Nichols erred in declining to grant respondent's Motion to Dismiss.

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF 18 MONTHS SUSPENSION IS APPROPRIATE BASED UPON THE ADMITTED FACTUAL BASIS OF RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT

After making extensive findings of fact, the referee found both aggravating and mitigating factors, which he found on balance merited a suspension of eighteen months. (RR. 25). These findings and the recommendation are presumed correct and must be upheld unless clearly erroneous or devoid of record support. The Florida Bar v. Rosen, 608 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Miele, 605 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1992).

Respondent has accepted the factual basis of the Bar's complaints and does not contest Judge Nichols' findings. Case law demonstrates that Judge Nichols' recommended discipline of 18 months suspension comports with prior disciplinary actions by this Court involving fact patterns similar to the Bush and Brown complaints.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Welch</u>, 272 So.2d 139 (Fla. 1972), an attorney was placed on three years probation after persuading a client to deed property to the attorney's wife in return for inadequate consideration. The attorney had been previously disbarred in 1958 for misappropriation of clients' trust funds. Id. at 141, n.2. The three-year probation was based in large part on a six year lapse between the transaction and discipline, as well as the attorney's rehabilitation during the interim. In reaching its result, this Court specifically held:

However, we are convinced that the overall lapse of time involved in these proceedings of four years has largely nullified any benefit to the public and the Bar to be achieved by disbarment or suspension of respondent. In the 6 years that have lapsed since the execution of the deed by the complaining witness herein, respondent has, witnesses from the presented, conducted his practice of law in a reputable manner. Disciplinary proceedings are instituted primarily in the public interest and to preserve the purity of the Bar. Those interests will not be served at this late date by respondent's suspension.

Id. at 141 (citation omitted).

The Florida Bar v. Israel, 327 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1975), was factually similar to this case but resulted in a far less severe sanction than sought by the Bar against this respondent. Israel involved a real estate transaction essentially identical to the Bush transaction in this case. The Court publicly reprimanded Israel after he admitted to the wrongful nature of the transaction. Id. Accordingly, Israel provides guidance as to the appropriate sanction in this case. Id. at 13.

In the case at bar, respondent admitted to the factual basis of the Bush complaint and does not contest Judge Nichols' findings of fact. She candidly discussed all aspects of the transaction during the disciplinary hearing, fully admitting that she lacked knowledge and experience in the area of real estate law and that she provided Ms. Bush with inappropriate counsel. (RR. 85). Indeed, Judge Nichols made a specific finding in mitigation of discipline that respondent had made a "full and free disclosure to disciplinary board." (RR. 25).

As this Court noted in <u>Welch</u>, a substantial lapse between the wrongful conduct and the imposition of discipline is a factor in mitigation of discipline. More than seven years have elapsed since the Bush transaction. (RR. 2-13). Respondent has not only fully admitted her wrongdoing but has voluntarily withdrawn from the practice of law until the conclusion of these proceedings. (T. 82-83). Respondent also has vowed that she will not again engage in solo practice. (T. 83). Accordingly, the cases of <u>Welch</u> and <u>Israel</u> compel this Court uphold Judge Nichols' recommended discipline of 18 months suspension from the practice of law.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Barley</u>, 541 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1989), an attorney drafted a trust, named himself sole trustee, persuaded the client to make an unsecured loan of \$47,500 to him from the trust and withdrew both hourly fees and a contingent fee from the trust without the consent of the client. The Court imposed a 60-day suspension for the misconduct.

The misconduct in <u>Barley</u> substantially exceeds respondent's misconduct in the Bush matter. In both cases, the attorney failed to inform clients they needed outside counsel. Both attorneys made inappropriate financial gains from clients. Both unilaterally took unagreed to fees from the clients. If a 60-day suspension was appropriate in <u>Barley</u>, it cannot seriously be contended that the 18 month suspension recommended by the referee is an inadequate discipline in this case.

A disciplinary action brought after an attorney failed to inform a client that there was no basis for the client's claim parallels the Brown complaint in this case. circumstances, the Court in The Florida Bar v. Bazley, 597 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1992), imposed a suspension of eight months. attorney in Bazley, like respondent, admitted to suffering from severe personal problems during the period of wrongful conduct; worked as a sole practitioner and thus lacked the benefit of a supervising attorney or associate; had received a reprimand; and expressed remorse for the episode. See id. at As a result, Bazley demonstrates that the referee's 797. recommendation should not be upset.

The cases cited by the Bar are not persuasive because they are clearly distinguishable. The Florida Bar v. Fitzgerald, 541 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1989), concerned an attorney disbarred after misappropriating trust fund monies from a client who was also a business partner. This Court reasoned that the combined misconduct of misappropriation and betrayal of the client/partner compelled disbarment. Id. at 606. In contrast, respondent never engaged in a partnership with either Ms. Bush or Ms. Brown. Moreover, the attorney in Fitzgerald argued that the referee erred in finding him guilty in three of the five counts of misconduct, whereas respondent has fully admitted her misconduct.

Furthermore, a significant lapse of time between the offending conduct and the imposition of discipline could not inure to Fitzgerald because it was due to his own actions to

conceal his misconduct from the Bar. <u>Id</u>. at 605. However, respondent has not attempted to conceal any misconduct, but rather has been forthright.

The Florida Bar v. Neely, 587 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1991), also cited by the Bar, is inapposite, because the attorney had been disciplined on <u>five</u> prior occasions before disbarment was ordered. The attorney faced three counts of misconduct, one involving the transfer of a home to a corporation owned by the attorney, who failed to inform the client what was being signed or to advise her to seek independent counsel. The cumulative impact of the attorney's "significant disciplinary history" combined with subsequent misconduct resulted in disbarment. <u>Id</u>. at 464. The attorney had demonstrated that he was completely unamenable to rehabilitation.

Disbarment was similarly ordered in the egregious case of The Florida Bar v. Della-Donna, 583 So.2d 307 (Fla. 1989). In Della-Donna, an attorney brought Nova University to the brink of financial ruin after embezzling a trust to which the University was a principle beneficiary. The attorney also ruined several other trusts, yet absolutely refused to acknowledge the misconduct. Id. at 309. In contrast, the Bar has made no showing in this case that respondent's misconduct resulted in the financial ruin of either Ms. Brown or Ms. Bush. Moreover, respondent has fully acknowledged her misconduct, unlike the unrepentant attorney in Della-Donna.

Additionally, the attorney in The Florida Bar v. Holmes, 503 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1987), was disbarred for engaging in numerous instances of misconduct. Holmes committed a series of fraudulent estate transactions, misappropriated funds clients. neglected a legal matter, entered relationship with a client though a conflict of interest existed and intentionally harmed clients. Id. at 1247. Respondent's misconduct was not nearly so egregious as the conduct in Holmes and does not demonstrate the continuing, calculated pattern of fraud and deceit present in Holmes.

Judge Nichols' recommendation of eighteen months suspension is supported by the facts of both the Brown and Bush cases. Welch and Israel in particular are identical to the Bush matter and resulted in reprimands. The cases relied upon by the Bar are greatly dissimilar to the facts of this case. Accordingly, the recommended suspension of eighteen months should be upheld.

THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE IS AN APPROPRIATE REFLECTION OF BOTH THE AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

The Bar argues that the referee's findings in aggravation, coupled with respondent's misconduct mandate that this Court reject the referee's recommendation of an 18 month suspension and impose the disciplinary sanction of disbarment. The Bar cites to The Florida Bar v. Neely, in support of this assertion. Neely involved an attorney guilty of misconduct in three unrelated incidents who also had an extensive history of five prior disciplinary actions. Disbarment was ordered specifically to protect the public. Clearly, in Neely the attorney had been accorded multiple opportunities for rehabilitation yet nonetheless continued to violate his oath.

The Bar also alleges respondent's "cumulative misconduct." Respondent was privately reprimanded in 1989. (T. 115). One reprimand does not constitute cumulative misconduct. Certainly one private reprimand is not the egregious history of misconduct such as that of the attorney in Neely, supra. Nor does one private reprimand amount to the repeated discipline of the attorney in The Florida Bar v. Bern, 425 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1983), who was reprimanded on three separate occasions before being suspended for three (3) months after entering into a partnership with a client and failing to turn over funds due to the client. As this Court observed, "The Court deals more harshly with

cumulative misconduct than it does with isolated misconduct. Additionally, cumulative misconduct of a similar nature should warrant an even more severe discipline than might dissimilar conduct." Id. at 528. See also, The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1979) (two prior reprimands in the face of a proceeding for misdemeanor convictions warranted six months suspension).

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